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By any measure: lives saved, 
conversations started, ministers 
appointed, money raised, miles 
ran, banter had – last year was 
our biggest and most impactful 
year in this movement against 
suicide. Here’s a few of the biggest 
hits that you made happen. 

84 men take their own lives every 
week in the UK. 

12 years into our campaign, this remains 
the defining data point of 2017 at CALM. 
And clearly a defining data point for men. 

Since our campaign was conceived in 
2006, we have strived to surface the 
heartbreaking data points about male 
suicide in the public sphere - from 
policy-makers, to media commentators, to 
service providers, employers and the wider 
public of women and men themselves. 

In a world increasingly besotted with 
data and their analytics, for the longest 
time these data points simply weren’t 
being meaningfully heard. People would 
too easily abstract themselves out of 
the data and not truly appreciate the 
implications it has for our fathers, our 
brothers, our sons, our boyfriends, our 
team-mates, our colleagues, and those 
devastated by the loss of loved ones. 

With that in mind, 2017 was a year of  
shock and awe.

We punched the data home with a 
velvet fist - a public intervention that 
perhaps for the first time ever landed the 
enormity of the issue of male suicide. 

Presented as an installation of 84 sculp-
tures on London’s Southbank, we knew 
it would be a huge shock when people 
started to understand its provenance, 
purpose and calculate its meaning. 

Within seven days our campaign metrics 
pointed to a deep impact: 2.1bn impres-
sions around male suicide, 171m mentions 
of Project 84 on social media, by year-end 
249,000 signatures on a petition to secure 
a minister responsible for suicide 
prevention and bereavement, then seven 

Cannes Lions and a queue of brands 
wishing to further platform the issue. 
Project 84 created a wave that continues 
to ripple and break across culture. 

Executed in partnership with ITV, This 
Morning, agency Adam & Eve and Harry’s, 
Project 84 was a defining moment for 
CALM and the issue we seek to conquer. 
And perhaps more importantly a defining 
moment for the general public who 
could no longer ignore the facts.  

It was the tentpole of a remarkable year 
under the helm of our new CEO, 
Simon Gunning and a streamlined 
organisation - supercharging aware-
ness growth, income growth, service 
growth and therefore lives saved. 

Never has the campaigning cornerstone  
of our name been so apt. We entered 
2017 with Heads Together, The Calm 
Photography Movement and the simply 
ludicrous ‘L’Eau De Chris’ campaign with 
Topshop, featuring Chris Hughes from ITV2 
hit ‘Love Island’ and his bottled tears. 

On World Suicide Prevention Day we  
delivered a hard-hitting yet hopeful press 
campaign, publishing suicide notes of 
those who lived to show us all a way 
through crisis. 

Our Change The Picture campaign through 
lnstagram showed the flipside of the men 
maintaining an appearance of being 
invincible. 

In Best Man Project we invited celebrities 
to reveal an uncommon honesty 
between mates. 

And we ended the year riding the 
enormous waves created by Project 84.
Simply, the cultural connections we 
are making around the issues of 

toxic masculinity and male suicide 
get stronger and deeper.

As for the awe, with the growth in 
awareness and engagement in CALM, 
male suicide and the crisis of mascu-
linity underpinning it, we have seen a 
truly awesome acceleration in income 
in 2017- both in the inspiring fundraising 
activities of our supporters, and increased 
corporate engagement, whether through 
our workplace wellbeing initiative CALM 
Companies, or pledges to match the 
ambitions of our campaigning. 

Our year of shock and awe has saved lives; 
456 lives to be precise. That’s the data 
point we hold ourselves most accountable 
for. Because our engagement drives 
income growth, and that has a direct cor-
relation back to our investment in core ser-
vices and increased capacity to save more 
lives through our helpline and webchat 
services. It’s a simple, undeniable model. 

And with our continued upward trajectory of 
income growth, we are better able to build 
a robust roadmap to achieve our stated 
objectives of delivering 24-7 services for 
men in crisis as, when and how they need 
it. That will doubtless involve data, analytics 
and digital services to ensure that every £ 
raised is more effective in saving lives. We 
will begin to see the fruits of this in 2018/19. 

Meantime, I for one remain entirely confi-
dent in our continued growth - arguably, we 
are becoming a populist movement to com-
bat toxic masculinity and establish hope for 
those men who have reached a crisis point. 

That hope will prevail and more men will 
stay alive. You can count on us.  
 
 

 

 
J Scroggs, Chair of Trustees 2nd October 2018

INTRODUCTION FROM THE CHAIR OF THE TRUSTEES
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CALM BEFORE THE STORM

and pageviews reaching 1.4 million  
(up 53% on 2016-17). Pageviews for the 
Help section of the website increased 
50% year on year whilst use of CALM’s 
database of local services increased 59%. 

The proportion of new users remained 
high (89% compared to 87% in 2016-
17), meaning our future challenge 
is to ensure CALM’s website users 
are compelled to visit again, both 
to give and get further support. 

In 2017, 4,382 men took their own 
lives in the UK, just 126 fewer than 

in 2016. Whilst this small decline can 
be recognised and welcomed, the 
numbers still tell us that we’re losing 
one man every two hours to suicide. 

Two further facts remain. Suicide is the 
single biggest killer of men under 45 in 
the UK – ahead of road accidents, knife 
crime and heart attacks. And a significant 
gender bias persists, with men accounting 
for three in every four UK suicides.

Throughout the year, CALM continued to 
dedicate formidable force and resources 
to changing these numbers. Our free, 
confidential and anonymous helpline and 
webchat are open daily, 5pm - midnight, 
to anyone in crisis, needing support, or 
unsure where to turn. 
 
In 2017-18, demand for this service 
exploded as a result of far-reaching 
campaigns and the prominence of suicide 
and mental health on the public agenda. 

Increased demand means we were able 
to answer and support more men in need  
of help. One crucial measure of the impact  
of CALM’s services is the number of 
suicides prevented through calls and  
webchats, which was 456 in 2017-18  
(409 in 2016-17). 

CALM’s website is an essential tool for 
those in need of support, acting as a 
gateway to the helpline and webchat, as 
well as offering a wealth of information and 
inspiration. In 2017-18, traffic increased 
significantly, with the number of users 
increasing by 59% on the previous year 

Meeting a 17% overall increase in demand 
was a key challenge for CALM’s services.  
Additional capacity was added to maintain 
the answer rate of 76% from the previous 
year. Webchat saw the most significant 
increase in demand, up 55% on the 
previous year, showing the popularity of 
this service, especially among younger 
audiences. 

SOUNDTRACK 
Arcade Fire 'Keep the Car Running'
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It is a sad fact that those bereaved by 
suicide are far more likely to take their 
own lives. CALM hosts the Support After 
Suicide Partnership (SASP), a hub for 
more than 30 organisations providing 
support across the UK to those affected 
and bereaved by suicide. In September 
2017, SASP launched groundbreaking 
research into the impact of suicide in the 
UK – the largest of its kind, achieving 
over 5,000 responses – and partnered 
with 870 funeral directors to deliver better 
support for people bereaved by suicide.
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Asuicide note is something few people 
want to read. Yet suicide is something 

that affects hundreds of thousands of 
people every year. In September 2017, 
together with the award-winning agency 
Adam&EveDDB, CALM launched 'Notes',  
a campaign created to bring the issue of 
suicide to the fore and open discussion 
around this often hidden topic. 
 
To mark World Suicide Prevention Day,  
we published real suicide notes in national 
newspapers, written by men who had  
felt like life was not worth living – but, 
crucially, who survived. Their suicide notes 
bear testament to a tomorrow possible  
for everyone.  
 
With thanks to Jonny, Ronnie and Bobby 
for donating their suicide notes to the 
campaign. Notes was designed to build 
a message of hope from the horrifying 
statistic that suicide kills more men under 
45 than anything else in the UK. This 
begins with awareness, the national level 
of which CALM tracked throughout the 
year. CALM’s campaigns in 2017-18 
contributed to a significant overall increase 
in awareness of male suicide.

AN UNFLINCHING LOOK

SOUNDTRACK 
Ólafur Arnalds 'Tomorrow's Song'

% INCREASE IN GOOGLE SEARCHES FOR 'MALE SUICIDE' 
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What does masculinity mean to 
you? In early 2017, this question 

baited thousands of photographers from 
across the world to take part in The 
Calm Photography Movement. After 
losing family and friends to suicide, long-
time mates Steve Wallington and Scott 
Shillum created a platform to explore 
ideas of masculinity through the powerful 
medium of photography, arranging a 
competition, exhibition and auction to 
raise funds and awareness for CALM. 

From amateurs shooting precious, 
personal moments to professionals 
including renowned photographer 
Rankin, the winning images were 
arresting and evocative, heart-wrenching 
and joyful – all shining a light on the 
complexity of modern masculinity.  

With thanks to Lynx, Topman and 
Getty Images for their support. Hats off  
to panellists Simon Jack, Poorna Bell,  
Casey Moore and James Scroggs. 

SOUNDTRACK 
Robbie Williams 'Life Thru A Lens'
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LUDICROUS

In a world first, October 2017 saw Love 
Island star Chris Hughes launch a celeb-

rity bottled water infused with his very own 
tears. To the public’s delight and disbelief, 
the tears were real. The celebrity product 
wasn’t. On World Mental Health Day, what 
was launched as ‘L’Eau de Chris’ was 
swiftly revealed as, of course, ludicrous.

Speaking at the launch, Chris said: 
“Yesterday everyone was shocked that I 
had literally bottled my emotions, yet this is 

SOUNDTRACK 
James Blake 'Retrograde'
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what men are doing every single day.”
Indeed it was ludicrous that men would 
quite literally bottle up their emotions –
84% of men in the UK, our research 
showed. And ludicrous that suicide remains 
the single biggest killer of men under 45.
With the generosity and goodwill of 
Mr.Hughes and his team, the slick creative 
input of world-renowned photographer 
Rankin, and the genius ideas and months 
of meticulous planning from some of the 
best communications teams on the planet, 

BMB, and W Communications –  
#DontBottleItUp convincingly spread con-
fusion and eye-rolling disbelief at influencer 
marketing gone too far, then turned it into 
appreciation and understanding. A prank 
with purpose. Chris’ helped us bring our 
message to a huge younger audience, 
including millions who hadn’t heard about 
CALM before.

Big thanks to our partners in crime Topman, 
BMB, W Communications and Havas.
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Some pictures might say a thousand 
words but others conceal the truth. On 

International Men’s Day 2017, in partner-
ship with 360i Europe and Dentsu Aegis 
Network, we launched #ChangeThePicture 
– a campaign aimed at challenging the 
restrictive stereotypes that men can feel 
pressured to portray on social media.  
We invited 12 men to reveal the unexpect-
ed truth behind photos they’d shared in the 

THIS INTERNATIONAL MEN’S DAY FREE MEN FROM GENDER EXPECTATIONS
TOGETHER WE CAN #ChangeThePicture

www.thecalmzone.net

REAL MAN

REAL STORY

TAKE A CLOSER LOOK AT THE
MAN BEHIND THE PICTURE

CRAIG SHARED THIS PHOTO
FEELING COMPLETELY ALONE 

THIS INTERNATIONAL MEN’S DAY FREE MEN FROM GENDER EXPECTATIONS
TOGETHER WE CAN #ChangeThePicture

www.thecalmzone.net

REAL MAN

REAL STORY

TAKE A CLOSER LOOK AT THE
MAN BEHIND THE PICTURE

CRAIG SHARED THIS PHOTO
FEELING COMPLETELY ALONE 

past. Ex-professional footballer and boxer 
Leon McKenzie, presenter and documen-
tary maker Riyadh Khalaf, and 10 others 
shared stories that defied the stereotypes 
that the accompanying images conveyed. 
 
Behind the groomed and dapper model, 
the slick city boy, the impossibly ripped 
powerlifter and the top-of-his-game profes-
sional footballer celebrating a milestone 

goal – we revealed vulnerability, mental 
health struggles, insecurities and suicidal 
feelings.

Alongside the powerful stories shared on 
Instagram and across social media, post-
ers cropped up on bus stops, billboards 
and magazines across the UK encouraging 
everyone to step back, rethink, see the 
whole story and #ChangeThePicture. 

CHANGE THE PICTURE
“ 

”
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SOUNDTRACK 
David Bowie 'Changes'
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ALE TOGETHER NOW The mighty #ManYourLocal returned  
on International Men's Day 2017.  

A mass trip down the pub was disguised as 
a grass-roots awareness campaign when 
we invited CALM supporters to sign up for 
a pack of beermats in the post. They then 
had the best excuse to get their coat on 
and head down their local: to hassle their 
pub landlord or barista to place the piss-
take puns and musings on our  
#ManDictionary beermats under the noses 
of punters. In doing so we sparked thou-

“    They then 
had the 
best excuse 
to get their 
coat on and 
head down 
their local”

sands of conversations in bars and cafés 
across the nation – on masculinity, on men-
tal health and on the feelings of pride and 
elation one feels after successfully opening 
a jar in front of an audience. 
 
In doing so we hopefully helped some 
mates on their way to understanding and 
looking after each other, or maybe just 
gave someone a chuckle and a handy bit 
of colourful cardboard reminding them that 
CALM is there when they need us.

SOUNDTRACK 
The Beatles 'Come Together'

@boylie1977 @cathmck1968 @justformen01 @siancarroll_
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Friendships and social connections can 
 provide a lifeline for those in crisis. 

Recent research revealed that men’s 
social connections tend to wane as they 
get older. Isolation and loneliness is a 
growing problem, especially for men over 
30. So, how do we encourage men to 
look out for each other a little more?
 
That's the question we posed at a creative 
'hackathon' led by The Drum for good 
causes called Do It Day, where some 
of the inspiration came in the form of a 
question: ‘Why wait for a wedding to be 
your mate’s best man?’. We decided 
that our next step should tap into the 
wisdom of real best pals to ask just that. 
And The Best Man Project was born.

Four pairs of best mates kicked off the 
project with a touching film. We sat them 
down together and firstly teased out some 
banter and great anecdotes – 'Who takes 
the longest to get ready? Who's the best 
romancer?' The lads’ stories made us cry 
tears of laughter. Then came the rug-pull 
moment: 'Turn to him now and tell him what 
he means to you'. Some of them squirmed, 
their awkwardness spoke volumes.  
Others made us cry again. These simple 
conversations revealed something 
powerful about male friendship, and all 
the stuff that can too often go unsaid.
 
Things took a very interesting turn in 
January, when none other than HRH The 
Duke of Cambridge got in touch wanting a 

piece of the action. Rio Ferdinand, Loyle 
Carner and Roman Kemp were just a  
few of the faces to join him in celebrating 
the power of friendship with their wit  
and wisdom.  
 
The resulting films were heart-warming 
and hilarious in equal measure, and made 
front page news with some chat about 
Prince Harry's wedding, although it was 
still unclear if William would be Harry's 
best man.  
 
One thing was clear though: beneath 
the banter, football chat and pops at 
each other’s appearance there's a lot 
of love. Sometimes you just have to 
ask the right questions to reveal it.
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FRIENDS IN HIGH PLACES
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SOUNDTRACK 
Weezer 'My Best Friend'
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SOUNDTRACK 
Ben E. King 'Stand by me'

TAKE A STAND

Around 6,000 lives are lost to suicide in 
the UK every year. 75% of those are 

men. That means that every week in the 
UK, 84 men take their own lives. These 
statistics seem scary, but unless you've 
been directly affected, it's still difficult to 
drive home the scale and devastation 
caused by suicide, so that people sit 
up and listen, and more importantly, do 
something. In early 2018 we set out to 
change that. On 26th March 2018, together 
with partners Harry’s Grooming and ITV, 
CALM launched #Project84 to tell the real 
stories behind these horrifying statistics.
 
We brought together families and friends 
of 84 real men lost to suicide. People 
who, with overwhelming generosity, 
wanted to prevent others going through 
the same ordeal. Together they want-
ed to somehow turn their tragedy and 
trauma into something hopeful. And so, 
guided by renowned artist Mark Jenkins, 
we brought them together to create 84 
sculptures, each representing a loved 
one who had taken their own life. 
 
These sculptures were installed atop 
ITV Tower in Central London, creating a 
powerful and arresting image that stopped 
people in their tracks. 84 sculptures in a 
stance of strength and defiance, looking 
out over a busy city, full of regular people 
living their lives. It was a reminder that 

suicide is too silent a problem, too easy to 
ignore. It dominated the London skyline, 
UK headlines and made ripples across the 
world. The response was monumental and 
unprecedented. ITV's This Morning cov-
ered the campaign all week, with Phil and 
Holly interviewing the families on the sofa. 
Together we got millions talking about sui-
cide, in homes and workplaces across the 
country, in Parliament at Prime Minister's 
Questions and in news rooms from the US, 
to China and Australia. 

Riding the wave of momentum from the 
installation and families stories, CALM 
launched a petition with Matthew Smith, 
who lost his brother Dan to suicide, calling 
for government action. The petition took 
off, and following an incredible 400,000 
signatures, the government listened. In a 
huge win for our movement, CALM was 
invited to work closely with Number 10 
to outline what action should be taken.
 
On 10 October 2018, #WorldMental-
HealthDay, we made real change. 
The Government announced the 
appointment of the world's first ever 
Minister for Suicide Prevention, setting a 
precedent of government responsibility 
for the issue – a colossal leap forward for 
CALM and everyone in this movement, 
but importantly, everyone in the UK.
 
Now the real work begins. We'll continue to 
work with this new position to destigmatise 
suicide, and rally everyone across the UK 
to tackle the issue as a national priority 
and a societal problem. We’ll acceler-
ate and elevate work which saves lives. 

Having a Minister for Suicide Prevention 
will help us work more effectively by: 
implementing quality standards for work 
across the country, collecting better data, 
and shining a light on other areas where 
we can work together and help people in 
distress. There is no quick-fix solution to 
the problem of suicide and the immense 
pain of bereavement, but this is a crucial 
step forward. We won’t be slowing down 
the pressure to deliver anytime soon.  
 
We have been overwhelmed by the 
positive responses to #Project84 and 
the outpouring of emotion and desire for 
things to change. Through the campaign, 
thousands of people have come together - 
raising their voices, taking a stand against 
suicide, and showing that it really doesn’t 
have to be this way. This fuels hope, and 
hope fuels action. To all of the families 
and friends involved, and to every single 
runner, campaigner, supporter, fundraiser, 
volunteer, re-tweeter, petition-signer and 
general rabble-raiser who made this pos-
sible, from all of us at CALM, thank you.

Petition Leader Matthew Smith
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A NEW
We’re a little sad to say we’ll no longer be printing 

the notorious CALMzine. Since humble beginnings 
in our tiny, smelly office in 2011; CALMzine has grown 
in stature, won multiple awards and featured guest 
interviews as diverse as Scroobius Pip, Russell Brand, 
Professor Green and Prince William and Harry. Whether 
it’s raw discussions about dealing with anxiety, depression 
and sexuality; or daft takes on how to build a rocket – 
hundreds of writers, poets, artists and photographers 

SOUNDTRACK 
Ariana Grande 'thank u, next'
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have shared great art and stories across its pages, getting 
under the noses of thousands of young people all over 
the country; making them think, laugh and feel a bit better 
about the weird world we live in.  With the rapid rise of 
podcasts, video and loads of exciting digital stuff in the 
pipeline we have big opportunities to amplify CALMzine's 
approach: tackling the serious stuff with creativity, humour 
and a DIY attitude. Thanks to everyone that contributed, 
distributed and read. 
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CALM is a people-powered 
movement. In the last year we 
saved more lives than ever 
before and changed government 
because of the thousands of 
supporters doing all sorts of 
weird and wonderful things 
for CALM. Here’s a little taste 
of some of the heroes who 
walked, ran, cycled, laughed, 
danced, rowed, wrote, kicked, 
drove, talked and cheered... 
against living miserably. 

Powerful partnerships don’t just give 
us campaigning clout and seats on our 
helpline, they also give us a huge boost 
with volunteers in our office and extra 
feet on the streets. A shining example 
was our Mind The Chap campaign during 
Men’s Mental Health Week 2017, which 
got the CALM message into the hands 

and purses of thousands of London 
commuters. #MindTheChap 

cardholders were handed out 
around key underground hot 

spots by staff activists from 
several of our partners, 
including Topman, Octopus 

Some highlights included the mildly-he-
donistic crew serving tea and great chat at 
the final Secret Garden Party, the rowdy 
and hair-raisingly passionate London 
Marathon Cheer Team, the cerebral 
lot musing on masculinity at Being A 
Man Festival, and of course there was 
that time Prince William had the pleas-
ure of meeting some of our volunteers 
at the launch of Best Man Project.

LOUD AND 
PROUD

POWERED BY THE PEOPLE

We’re frankly in awe of the energy and 
generosity of our army of CALM volunteers 
–  handing out materials, stewarding and 
cheering at events, taking photos, shooting 
film and cheerfully blazing through all sorts 
of unglamorous office jobs. This year...

265 volunteers 
gave 3,014 hours 
across 50 events

Investments, Dennis Publishing and The 
App Business. Together they allowed us 
to reach around 30,000 people in a day. 
In early 2018, London North Eastern 
Railway launched a partnership with 
CALM that’s changing their workplace 
culture with proactive approaches to staff 
wellbeing, and supporting their customers 
too. 3,000 staff have been briefed on 
CALM’s core message, and 50 LNER 
'Warriors' have now been trained as 
CALM Volunteers. Massive shout outs 
to everyone at Tesco F&F, Bird & Bird; 
BlackRock and Spotify for all their hard 
work through the year. Thank you!

SOUNDTRACK 
John Swihart 'A-Team Theme'

SOUNDTRACK 
Canned Heat
'Let's Work Together'
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To celebrate 20 years of their existence, 
megaband Placebo offered fans the 
chance to own over 300 items of classic 
memorabilia in one of the biggest auctions 
of its kind. Items up for sale included 
frontman Brian Molko’s iconic ribbed 
jumper from ‘Pure Morning’ video, helping 
them to raise over £27,500 for CALM! 
“We knew that the proceeds had to go 
towards something that was close to our 
hearts. Brian and I can but commend you 
on your mission, and we humbly hope 
the proceeds can go to help you carry on 
your excellent work. Long may it continue! 
Peace and love, Stefan and Brian.”

Our ever-growing CALM Runners Crew get together for much more 
than fitness and fundraising. They're a perfect demonstration of the 
powerful link between exercise, community and wellbeing. In the 
last two years, the crew has fostered many friendships around this 
shared passion – combining a Facebook group with meetups and 
workshops where runners can share training tips, failures and suc-
cesses and support each other through the ups and downs. CALM 
ambassador and movement coach, Chevy Rough leads proceed-
ings with expert tips for marathons and 10Ks, but more importantly 
he empowers the crew to build a great relationship with exercise, 
so beyond the challenge for CALM, running becomes a healthy and 
ongoing part of life. It's less about the quickest times and longest 
distances and more about looking after your body, your mind and 
your mates. So lace up!

THE  
PLACEBO 
EFFECT

RUN FOR CALM

SO
UN

DT
RA

CK
 

P
la

ce
bo

 'P
ur

e 
M

or
ni

ng
'

SOUNDTRACK 
Kanye West 'Stronger'

“ 

”

Alongside the much-loved free tea, cosy 
sofa vibes and the (sometimes NSFW) 
Wall of Secrets in the annual CALM tent, 
we upped our game considerably for the 
final shebang, with our very own Torch 
Songs mini-stage. Throughout the festival 
we hosted intimate (and sometimes VERY 
loud) gigs from upcoming artists including 
Tom Grennan, Annabel Allum, Croox, Ned 
Dylan, Haz, The King's Parade and Alice 
Jemima, hilariously hosted by long-time 
CALM volunteer and comic compere  

Graham Goddard aka Oh Standfast.  
A fitting finish for A Very Serious Party. 
 
Huge thanks to everyone at Secret 
Garden Party for supporting CALM over 
the last four years. A big shout out to 
James Brennan, Freddie Fellows, Eddy 
Temple Morris, Rowland Bennett, everyone 
at Secret FM and all of the beautiful, 
hard-working, hard-partying CALM 
volunteers. As Eddy says, "sometimes a 
beginning comes disguised as an end..." 

You'd be hard pushed to find a more 
colourful celebration of self-expression in 
all its forms than the now infamous Secret 
Garden Party. The pioneering boutique 
festival has been a staple of the CALM cal-
endar for many years – a much anticipated 
explosion of great tunes and glittering 
daftness. Secret Garden Party wrapped up 
its 15-year run with a bittersweet and beau-
tiful finish in 2017. It was a weekend full 
of surprises, and not just the ridiculously 
temperamental weather.  

THE SECRET'S OUT

SOUNDTRACK 
Tom Grennan  'Found What I've Been Looking for'
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Unusual cycling challenges are becoming the norm at CALM. 
After losing their friend Simon, pals Adam, Phil and Jenni decid-
ed to do something epic in his memory. To Hull and Back was 
the result. A 400 mile cycle ride from London to Hull (and back 
obviously). “I wanted to do something to help Simon’s two young 
boys and other men in crisis. We’ll be setting from the Olympic 
Park in Stratford and we’ll be aiming to cover 100 miles a day 
for four days.” They did just that, raising a whopping £5,306.42!

The Toby Allnutt Memorial Golf Day is a fun (and Jagermeister) 
filled day of golf in memory of all round legend Toby Allnutt. 
Toby’s brother Mark kicked it off to raise money for CALM 
in 2015 with 22 golfers, and it's since grown to a mighty 84. 
The tournament is open to anyone, with first timers teeing 
up alongside a few pros, all on a Stableford scoring system 
which provides a level playing field so everyone is in with a 
chance of winning. “If you want a good laugh on a Saturday 
afternoon, surrounded by a good bunch of people, a few 
beers and chance of winning the coveted Wooden Spoon 
then The Toby Allnutt Memorial Golf Day is a bit of you.”

TO HULL AND BACK

SWING 
WITH US

SOUNDTRACK 
Mark Ronson 'The Bike Song'

SOUNDTRACK 
Bing Crosby 'Straight Down the Middle'

Eight years ago, Lee Adams was suicidal. 
But talking to CALM turned his life around. 
Today he’s using his one true passion: 
Fulham FC, to get other men talking. At 
the start of the 2017/18 football season, 
Lee got a group of blokes together with a 
powerfully simple idea and a shared goal: 
to walk (and talk) from Fulham’s Craven 
Cottage to Reading, raising funds and 
awareness for CALM along the way.  
The knock-on effect in the Fulham com-
munity was incredible. Lee had so many 
people thanking him and sharing their own 
struggles, that he just had to do it all again. 
The next walk was a massive 113 mile 
journey to a game against Birmingham 
City, and since then they haven’t stopped, 
with appearances on Fan TV and in local 
papers, and rival fans meeting up before 
games to unite around an important issue. 
The campaign continues to grow with 
its simple message: just keep talking.

We continue to infiltrate the beautiful game, and were thrilled 
when the heroes over at Doncaster Rovers Football Club 

went and slapped a big CALM logo on a one-off kit for the 
Boxing Day match against Northampton Town Football 

Club. Massive thanks to London North East Rail (then Virgin 
Trains East Coast) and the club for making this happen. 

Oh, and they smashed them 3 - 0! Come on you boys in red.

TALK THIS WAY

JOY OF THE ROVERS

SOUNDTRACK 
Graham Coxon / Luke Daniel 'Falling'

Graham Coxon is the man. A real legend of 
British music. And he became even more 
of a legend when he released ‘Falling’ on 
Parlophone Records in support of CALM.

'Falling’ is a new recording of a song 
written by a friend of Graham’s, Luke 
Daniel, a talented unknown songwriter and 
dedicated father who, after a long fight with 
chronic pain, tragically ended his own life 
last year. Graham’s version of the track 
features on a double A side, which includes 
Luke’s original home recording. It’s 
available on digital download and limited 
edition 7" vinyl, and was accompanied by a 
beautiful video, directed and produced by 
Trinder Films.

Graham said that through releasing the 
song he “aims to inspire hope and courage 
in support of all those directly affected by 
suicide.” Huge thanks to Graham, Essy, 
Trinder Films and Parlophone Records.

FALLING

SOUNDTRACK 
Run-DMC, Aerosmith 
'Walk This Way '

SOUNDTRACK 
The W

hite S
tripes  

'S
even N

ation A
rm

y'
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TRUSTEES’ REPORT 
The trustees present their report with 
the financial statements of CALM for 
the year ended 31 March 2018.

SECTION 1 - STRUCTURE, 
GOVERNANCE AND 
MANAGEMENT 

1.1 Constitution of the 
charity and status
CALM was incorporated on 1 March 
2005 via Memorandum and Articles of 
Association as a company limited by 
guarantee and not having share capital. It 
was registered with the Charity Com-
mission in England on 28 July 2005 
and was entered on the Scottish 
Charity Register on 22 October 2013. 
The company is a Public Benefit Entity.

1.2 Methods for recruitment 
and appointment of trustees
The trustees are also the directors of 
CALM for the purposes of company law. 
CALM’s articles of association require 
a minimum of four trustees. There is no 
limit on the term of office. The objective 
is to have a wide range of appropriate 
skill-sets across fields that are relevant to 
CALM’s objectives. CALM’s objectives are 
assessed regularly. Trustees are recruited 
through recommendation and specific 
advertising as required. They are asked to 
meet the Chair and Chief Executive and 
quorum of the Trustees, before they then 
meet some of the wider executive. This es-
tablishes understanding of the responsibili-
ty and fit with the organisation’s objectives. 
Their appointment is by resolution of the 
board of trustees, following which the 
required legal documentation is completed.

Upon their appointment, new trustees are 

provided with information in the form of an 
induction pack, on their role as a trustee 
along with details of CALM’s operations 
and organisation. A series of meetings is 
arranged with key staff and departments 
in the CALM office for the new trustee to 
have a detailed understanding of the day-
to-day activities of the organisation and 
to get to know the employees. Ongoing 
training is provided as required and there 
is a regular offer of an invitation to attend 
the CALM office and join meetings.

1.3 Organisational structure 
and key policies
CALM has a board of trustees which 
meet at least six times a year. They are 
responsible for the strategic direction and 
policy of the charity, as well as governing 
oversight of the charity’s operations. One 
trustee serves as Chairman and one as 
Treasurer. The Chairman and Treasurer 
report regularly to the trustees on matters 
that impact the charity, both at trustee 
meetings and during the intervening 
periods. They also both have more 
regular direct contact with the executive 
management to ensure ongoing reporting 
on and governance of operational matters.
 
Sub-committees are appointed as 
required to consider specific issues. 
The delegation of the day-to-day 
responsibility for the running of CALM 
rests with the Chief Executive, who is 
supported by a full time equivalent staff 
of 17 employees in the London office. 

The principal policies adopted by 
CALM are summarised as follows:

• Ethical – CALM has an ethical policy, 
which does not allow it to accept funds 
from any organisation that it believes may 
act in a way that is contrary to CALM’s 
objectives. CALM also ensures that funds 
received from any one source do not 
exceed 15% of income, to minimise its 
reliance on any single funder/donor or 
give them undue sway on the strategic 
and operational intent of the organisation.

• Diversity and disability – CALM’s 
policy is to support the diversity of staff 
and volunteers through equal oppor-
tunities and practices. It encourages 
applications from those who consider 
themselves disabled. 

• Investment – The trustees have the 
power to invest in such assets as they 
see fit. Aside from retaining a prudent 
amount in reserves, it is intended that 
the majority of CALM’s funds be invested 
in short-term operational requirements, 
which leaves few funds for longer-term 
investments. Having due regard for the 
short-term liquidity requirements of oper-
ating the charity, the trustees maintain a 
policy of keeping surplus funds in interest 
bearing deposit accounts. 

• Remuneration – CALM’s remuneration 
policy is to reward all staff on the basis 
of: (1) their performance against personal 
targets; (2) CALM’s overall strategic and 
financial performance; (3) market salaries 
of a comparable role within the charity 
sector; and (4) the need to retain staff. 
The remuneration of the Chief Executive 
is also set at a level which is proportion-
ate to the lowest paid staff member, the 
overall level of expenditure and market 
salaries for a comparable role elsewhere. 

• Reserves – CALM’s reserves policy 
is to maintain unrestricted funds, which 
enable the charity to meet all liabilities 
as they fall due over the next 12 months. 
CALM’s primary driver is always to 
maintain sufficient funds to meet 
immediate working capital requirements 
for the next three to six months. This 
is determined on the basis of: (1) cash 
flow forecasts, which are updated 
and reviewed on a regular basis and 
discussed at trustee meetings; and 
(2) the nature of CALM’s short and 
long-term liabilities and commitments.

In addition to the policies above, 
CALM also has in place the requisite 
policies for the day-to-day running of the 
organisation, including financial, human 

INTRODUCTION 
FROM THE CHAIR 
OF THE TRUSTEES 
84 men continue to take their 
own lives every week in the UK. 

12 years into our campaign, this remains 
the defining data point of 2017 at CALM. 
And clearly a defining data point for men. 

Since our campaign was conceived in 
2006, we have strived to surface the 
heartbreaking data points about male 
suicide in the public sphere - from 
policy-makers, to media commentators, to 
service providers, employers and the wider 
public of women and men themselves. 

In a world increasingly besotted with 
data and their analytics, for the longest 
time these data points simply weren’t 
being meaningfully heard. People would 
too easily abstract themselves out of 
the data and not truly appreciate the 
implications it has for our fathers, our 
brothers, our sons, our boyfriends, our 
team-mates, our colleagues, and those 
devastated by the loss of loved ones. 

With that in mind, 2017 was a year of  
shock and awe.

We punched the data home with a 
velvet fist - a public intervention that 
perhaps for the first time ever landed the 
enormity of the issue of male suicide. 

Presented as an installation of 84 sculp-
tures on London’s Southbank, we knew 
it would be a huge shock when people 
started to understand its provenance, 
purpose and calculate its meaning. 

Within seven days our campaign 

metrics pointed to a deep impact: 2.1bn 
impressions around male suicide, 171m 
mentions of Project 84 on social media, by 
year-end 249,000 signatures on a petition 
to secure a minister responsible for suicide 
prevention and bereavement, then seven 
Cannes Lions and a queue of brands 
wishing to further platform the issue. 
Project 84 created a wave that continues 
to ripple and break across culture. 

Executed in partnership with ITV, This 
Morning, agency Adam & Eve and 
Harry’s, Project 84 was a defining moment 
for CALM and the issue we seek to 
conquer. And perhaps more importantly 
a defining moment for the general public 
who could no longer ignore the facts.  

It was the tentpole of a remarkable year 
under the helm of our new CEO, 
Simon Gunning and a streamlined 
organisation - supercharging aware-
ness growth, income growth, service 
growth and therefore lives saved. 

Never has the Campaigning cornerstone  
of our name been so apt. We entered 
2017 with Heads Together, The Calm 
Photography Movement and the simply 
ludicrous ‘L’Eau De Chris’ campaign with 
Topshop, featuring Chris Hughes from 
ITV2 hit ‘Love Island’ and his bottled tears. 

On World Suicide Prevention Day we  
delivered a hard-hitting yet hopeful press 
campaign, publishing suicide notes of 
those who lived to show us all a way 
through crisis. 

Our Change The Picture campaign through 
lnstagram showed the flipside of the men 
maintaining an appearance of being 
invincible. 

In Best Man Project we invited celebrities 
to reveal an uncommon honesty 
between mates. 

And we ended the year riding the 
enormous waves created by Project 84.

Simply, the cultural connections we 
are making around the issues of 
toxic masculinity and male suicide 
get stronger and deeper.

As for the awe, with the growth in 
awareness and engagement in CALM, 
male suicide and the crisis of mascu-
linity underpinning it, we have seen a 
truly awesome acceleration in income in 
2017- both in the inspiring fund-raising 
activities of our supporters, and increased 
corporate engagement, whether through 
our workplace wellbeing initiative CALM 
Companies, or pledges to match the 
ambitions of our campaigning. 

Our year of shock and awe has saved 
lives; 456 lives to be precise. That’s the 
data point we hold ourselves most account-
able for. Because our engagement drives 
income growth, and that has a direct corre-
lation back to our investment in core servic-
es and increased capacity to save more 
lives through our helpline and webchat 
services. It’s a simple, undeniable model. 

And with our continued upward trajectory 
of income growth, we are better able 
to build a robust roadmap to achieve 
our stated objectives of delivering 24-7 
services for men in crisis as, when and 
how they need it. That will doubtless 
involve data, analytics and digital services 
to ensure that every £ raised is more 
effective in saving lives. We will begin 
to see the fruits of this in 2018/19. 

Meantime, I for one remain entirely confi-
dent in our continued growth - arguably, we 
are becoming a populist movement to com-
bat toxic masculinity and establish hope for 
those men who have reached a crisis point. 

That hope will prevail and more men will 
stay alive. You can count on us.  
 
  
 

 

 
J Scroggs, Chair of Trustees 2nd October 2018
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resources and safeguarding policies. 

1.4 Risk management
The trustees have assessed the 
major risks to which CALM is exposed - in 
particular, those related to its operations 
and finances - and are satisfied that 
systems are in place to mitigate the 
charity’s exposure to the major risks. 
Such risk factors and control systems 
are reviewed regularly by the trustees. 

Day-to-day risk management is delegated 
to and undertaken by the Operations Di-
rector, in conjunction with the senior man-
agement in CALM’s office. The Operations 
Director reviews risks every other month 
ahead of trustees’ meetings, and makes 
trustees aware of any new, substantial or 
urgent risks. Risk management will remain 
a key focus to ensure that continued 
growth is matched by good governance. 
 
Financial risks are monitored through 
thorough reporting and jointly managed 
by the Treasurer, Operations Director and 
Accountant. Cash-flow reports are pre-
pared weekly, management accounts are 
prepared monthly and budget reviews take 
place every other month, ahead of trustee 
meetings. Financial systems and policies 
are in place to ensure good practice. 

SECTION 2 - OBJECTIVES 
AND ACTIVITIES
2.1 Aims and organisation
CALM focuses upon the prevention of male 
suicide in the UK. 

2.1.1 Charitable objectives
As stated in its memorandum of associa-
tion, CALM’s objectives are the preserva-
tion, protection and improvement of mental 
health and well-being amongst In particular 
but not exclusively young persons in the 
United Kingdom by offering, but not limited 
to, the use of support services, counselling, 
advice and/or information about depression 

and/or crisis management in whatever 
form is deemed most appropriate at that 
time to ensure that the services on offer 
are accessible to young people and others, 
through but not limited to the advancement 
of health education and public awareness.

2.1.2 Strategic goals and 
principal activities
In order to achieve its objectives, CALM’s 
strategic goals and main activities are:

• To campaign to increase the awareness 
and understanding of male suicide in the 
UK; to create a platform for and explore 
why three of every four suicides are 
men; to run campaigns and engagement 
programmes that challenge the prevailing 
culture of masculinity in UK society.

• To provide and expand the provision 
of gender-specific services for men; 
principally a helpline and webchat 
service, plus CALM’s website and 
campaigns and engagement materials 
which provide information and support 
for anyone in the United Kingdom.

2.2 Public benefit
CALM’s objectives and activities fully 
reflect the purposes that the charity was 
set up to further. There is an inherent 
public benefit in the prevention of 
male suicide and promoting a richer, 
better informed, empowering conver-
sation around male mental health. 

The trustees have referred to the Charity 
Commission’s general guidance on public 
benefit when reviewing the charity’s 
objectives and activities and when planning 
for future activities. The trustees have 
given due consideration to the Charity 
Commission’s published guidance on 
the Public Benefit requirement under the 
Charities Act 2011. 

SECTION 3 - ACHIEVEMENTS 
AND PERFORMANCE
3.1 Strategic and operational 
goals for 2017/18
CALM commenced 2017/18 with the 
following strategic and operational goals:

• Supporting men – to expand the 
helpline and webchat service, diversify 
into other forms of digital support and 
bring in internal support to improve the 
quality of services. CALM’s campaigns 
and engagement activities also 
act as support for men, stimulating 
conversations and mutual support 
through the awareness they bring. 

• Awareness – to continue to raise 
public awareness of male suicide 
through campaigns, communications 
and wider engagement activities. 

• Cultural change – encourage men to 
get help and give each other support by 
working with national brands and other 
organisations that provide a channel 
to reach as many men as possible.

• Public support – continue to 
expand CALM’s base of public 
supporters and determine a suitable 
measure of its supporter base.

• Corporate engagement – use corporate 
brands as a channel, platform and medi-
um through which to reach out to young 
men and help them to help themselves.

3.2 Review of operations
Below is a summary of the progress made 
by CALM in achieving the goals it set at the 
beginning of the year. 
 

3.2.1 Service provision 

Helpline and webchat services 
CALM’s principal service is a helpline 
and webchat service. It runs from 5pm 
to midnight every day. It is free, confi-
dential and anonymous. The service is 
tailored especially for men. It is run by 
paid, professional staff with substantial 
experience and extensive training in 
supporting men through various stages 
and forms of life crisis. CALM receives 
overwhelmingly positive feedback from 
users of the helpline, many of whom go 
on to become supporters of CALM.  

The trustees receive updates on the 
helpline and webchat service in the papers 
submitted ahead of each board meeting, 
including a report from the Helpline 
Director of the third party service company 
that provides the helpline service. This in-
cludes a monthly summary, key narratives 
and statistics. One trustee has specific 
responsibility for oversight of the helpline 
and webchat service and communicates 
with the Operations Director as required. 
The Operations Director holds a fortnightly 
conference call with the Helpline Director 
to keep up-to-date with activity; and recip-
rocates by updating the Helpline Director 
on campaign activity (which can lead to 
“spikes” in short term demand). The Help-
line Director presents an annual update to 
the trustees, which includes an overview 
of the year and any issues arising.
 
Demand for CALM’s principal services 
continue to increase year-on-year. Over the 
year, there was a 17% increase in demand 
for the helpline and webchat services, with 
additional capacity added to meet this 
demand through the year. By March 2018, 
there were 9-10 seats on the helpline 
and webchat services each evening. The 
reasons for the continued increase in 
demand are numerous but include: the 
increased overall awareness of mental 
health in society, the continued impact of 
CALM’s own campaigns and the escalating 
challenges around the provision of mental 

health services by the public sector - in 
the absence of viable alternatives, some 
public agencies actively signpost men to 
CALM’s helpline and webchat services.

Demand for the webchat service 
specifically is growing ever-faster – 
demand for webchat grew 55% in 2017/18. 
The webchat service appeals to and 
reaches a different audience – often 
skewing towards younger men with more 
complex communication circumstances 
in which physically talking is a challenge; 
also those in more immediate need of 
urgent support. As with the helpline, 
the webchat service is also directly 
referred to by other agencies. Given 
the online nature of the service, it is 
very simple to access immediately. 

Managing the level of demand and 
intensity of webchats has been one of the 
principle challenges. In November, a new 
“hold” system was put in place to help 
manage the immediate flood of demand 
confronting staff on some evenings.  
The system matches the one that was 

  2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 2017/2018 
% Change

Total demand  79,290 92,640 108,132 17%

Demand in  
service hours  70,219 83,261 96,518 16%

Contacts answered  55,946 63,536 72,856 15%

% Contacts answered  80% 76% 76% -

Webchat demand 7,283 11,111 17,206 55%

Suicides prevented  386 409 456 -

already in use for managing demand for 
helpline calls. 
The overall performance of the helpline 
and webchat services are measured by 
the percentage of contacts answered 
(“strike rate”). The objective is to achieve 
a strike rate of 80%; in 2017/18 a strike 
rate of 76% (2016/17 76%) was achieved. 

The most important statistic CALM is able 
to report on the impact of the helpline and 
webchat service is through the number of 
suicides prevented each year. These are 
calls or chats in which the caller has 
been actively suicidal, with the threat 
of imminent suicide, where the helpline 
and webchat staff member believes the 
caller has stepped back from suicide, or 
where CALM has successfully ena-
bled emergency services to respond.  

In the year to 31 March 2018, 456 suicides 
were prevented. 

A summary of the key metrics (consistent 
with those published last year) are 
provided in the table below. 
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CALM Companies 
As part of the strategic aims to both 
increase the level of support provided 
and income from commercial sources, 
the Brand Partnerships Director began 
the development of a new workplace 
wellbeing service – CALM Companies. 
The service is being developed against 
a backdrop of increasing awareness 
of the importance of mental health in 
society as a whole; and in the workplace in 
particular. For example, in October 2017, 
the government published the “Farmer/
Stevenson” Report - Thriving at Work: a 
review of mental health and employers 
and over the last 12-18 months numerous 
organisations have started to publicly 
acknowledge the value of a workforce that 
is both emotionally and physically well. 

Between September and December 2017, 
initial research was undertaken into poten-
tial demand, the most likely areas of pene-
tration and the scoping of the components 
for a service provided by CALM. Following 
this CALM entered a service development 
phase with the final CALM Companies 
product due to launch in 2018/19. 

Support After Suicide Partnership
CALM hosts the Support after Suicide 
Partnership (formerly the Suicide Be-
reavement Support Partnership) (“SASP”) 
which has the vision that, “everyone 
bereaved or affected by suicide should be 
offered timely and appropriate support”. 
It does this through research, advocacy, 
signposting, collaboration, and innovative 
practice. The Partnership is the hub for 
over 30 organisations providing support 
across the UK and is jointly funded by 
James Wentworth Stanley Memorial Fund, 
the National Suicide Prevention Alliance, 
The Matthew Elvidge Trust and CALM.

CALM recognises the importance of 
supporting those bereaved by suicide, pro-
vides SASP with administrative and office 
support and helps SASP with campaigning, 
fundraising and website development. 
CALM employs the SASP Project Manager, 

who in turn provides invaluable expertise 
in bereavement support to the CALM 
office, in particular to the Supporter 
Engagement team who are in touch with 
CALM supporters that are bereaved by 
suicide on a daily basis. The SASP Project 
Manager acts as a key member of the 
CALM office team and provides support 
at conferences, industry events and other 
engagement activities, especially where 
there is a bereavement aspect to the work.

Key achievements in 2017/18 include:

Building a compelling case for change - In 
September 2017, SASP launched ground 
breaking research into the impact of sui-
cide in the UK, with the University of Man-
chester. There was a substantial response, 
with over 5,000 members of the public 
taking part. It is expected that initial results 
will be available by the end of 2018, and a 
full report on the impact of suicide in 2019.

Increasing the capacity of support - SASP 
partnered with over 870 funeral directors 
(members of The National Society of Allied 
and Independent Funeral Directors) to de-
liver better support for people bereaved by 
suicide. This included training, education, 
and supporting funeral directors to give 
families resources such as Help is at Hand. 

Improving support - With the support of 
CALM, SASP rebuilt its website to make 
it somewhere warm, engaging, and 
welcoming to anyone bereaved or affected 
by suicide. There were over 33,000 visitors 
in the last 12 months. Finally, SASP is 
partnering with the National Bereavement 
Alliance to develop guidelines for delivering 
bereavement support through group 
work and is working with experts across 
the fields of bereavement, with plans to 
embed these guidelines as the benchmark 
of quality support for group support. 

SASP also worked with its members 
to produce a new booklet – Finding 
the Words – which offers guidance 
to supporters of people bereaved by 

suicide. This new resource has had an 
overwhelmingly positive response. SASP 
is now planning to work with Public Health 
England to make this booklet available 
to as many people as possible.

The SASP website can be accessed from 
the following link:  
www.supportaftersuicide.org.uk

CALMzones
Through funding from the local Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), in 2017/18 
CALM again provided services in the Lon-
don Tri-Borough area – dedicated activities 
were undertaken in the region, materials in 
the form of the CALMzine were distributed 
to targeted stockists/events and additional 
helpline service provision was enabled. 

At the end of 2017/18, CALM was 
informed that following changes to the 
Tri-Borough partnership, arrangements 
surrounding the commissioning of 
CALM’s services are being revised.

3.2.3 Website
CALM’s website continues to 
serve three main purposes:

• To provide information, support and 
signposting to men in crisis (including a 
direct link to CALM’s webchat service).

• To provide a wealth of engaging and 
inspiring content on a range of relevant 
issues; and to do so in a “down to 
earth”, non-clinical, positive way. 

• To allow anyone to get involved 
with CALM: donate, fundraise, 
volunteer or become a contributor 
to the cause and campaign.

The Communications Manager continued 
to create fresh, stimulating content for 
the website throughout the year, in the 
form of news articles, features and other 
stories. As well as content generated 
internally (including that from CALM’s 
campaigns), the website continues to be 
a key platform for CALM to share stories 
and inspiration from and for men.

CALM has always been a digitally 
progressive organisation. In line with 
trends in digital campaigns and com-
munications, as well as CALM’s own 
campaign strategy, the website does not 
stand on its own as a channel or platform; 
rather it is integrated as part of wider 
activity, including social media channels, 
the CALMzine (until March 2018), 
supporter newsletters, external media 
partners and offline communications for 
engagement and outreach (see 3.2.6).

As reported in 2016/17, a major 
project to upgrade CALM’s website 
is underway. Planning for this 
continued through the year, ahead 
of a proposed re-launch in 2018.

Given the importance of CALM’s website 
as a form of support, the infrastructure of 
the website is integrated into the other key 
components of the organisation – commu-
nications, engagement and fundraising. 

In 2018, the portal for the new CALM 
Companies service (see 3.2.1 Service 
provision) and an online ordering platform 
so that supporters can order materials and 
merchandise from CALM for fundraising 
and other events were also developed.

3.2.4 Campaigns
In addition to the services provided 
to support men, the other key plank 
to CALM’s activity is campaigning. 

Over time, CALM has developed a 
reputation for “punching above its 
weight” in devising and delivering original 
campaigns that successfully reach large 
numbers of men through both their content 
and tone of voice, as well as campaigning 
through channels to reach places where 
men will find and see CALM. CALM’s 
campaigns seek to include an interactive 
aspect – ether a simple “call to action” or a 
more in-depth way of engaging with CALM, 
thereby growing the movement overall.
CALM has developed a successful model 
for campaigns by partnering with creative 

agencies, brands targeting men and 
media organisations, to create high levels 
of impact and awareness with the aim of 
improving understanding of the issues 
behind the high rates of male suicide and 
catalysing a cultural change across the UK. 

Following the number of successful 
campaigns in previous years, one of 
CALM’s principal challenges is therefore 
to continually generate fresh, compelling 
campaign ideas. 2017/18 was no different, 
but CALM rose to this challenge, running 
another series of incredibly impactful 
campaigns. As part of the strategy 
to have a more continual campaigns 
presence and to enhance the visibility of 
the CALM brand, a Campaigns Director 
was recruited to work with commercial 
partners to deliver campaigns.

The campaigns through the year also 
showcased the variety in tone and 
cadence that CALM uses to achieve 
its campaign goals – some shocking 
and hard hitting, some thoughtful and 
sensitive and others just downright funny. 

For each campaign, CALM relies on 
its experience and works with the 
helpline service provider to predict 
the likely impact of the campaign (and 
other outreach activity) on demand for 
the helpline and webchat services, in 
order to manage capacity accordingly and 
ensure sufficient support is available. 

The rationale for working with brand 
partners for campaigns is not only to 
achieve greater awareness and reach 
for each campaign by using that brand’s 
audience as an additional channel, but also 
so that CALM can request funding from 
that brand to provide additional capacity 
for the helpline and webchat services 
to meet the increased demand for the 
service that arises from the campaign. 
 
In chronological order, campaign highlights 
in the year included: 
 

Heads Together
The support of the Duke and Duchess of 
Cambridge and Prince Harry has been 
hugely positive. CALM continued to 
partner with the Royal Foundation’s Heads 
Together campaign, increasing awareness, 
understanding and conversations about 
mental health issues across the UK. The 
campaign peak was Heads Together being 
the main charity partner for the London 
Marathon in April 2017 (dubbed the “Mental 
Health Marathon”). This achieved huge 
levels of media coverage, with activities 
including CALM’s contribution to the 
BBC documentary “Mind over Marathon” 
and securing an exclusive interview 
with the Duke of Cambridge and Prince 
Harry for the CALMzine. This interview 
also garnered further media attention.

As a result of the Heads Together 
campaign, CALM had 42 runners 
raising sponsorship income in the 
2017 London Marathon, providing a 
substantial uplift for the public fundraising 
category (see Fundraising 3.2.8). 

Following the 2017 London Marathon, 
Heads Together moved into more of a 
development phase, using the income 
raised for the Royal Foundation to 
develop programmes that will have a 
positive long-term impact on mental 
health in the UK. CALM continues to be 
a key partner of the Royal Foundation, 
particularly through input into programme 
development around men’s mental health.

The CALM Photography Exhibition
CALM has long used creativity and forms 
of art to highlight the negative connotations 
of masculinity (which can lead to the high 
rate of male suicide) as well as promote a 
more positive version of wellbeing for men. 
In May 2017, a photography exhibition 
was staged at the Getty Gallery in central 
London in support of CALM; and to show-
case contemporary photography depicting 
and exploring notions of “masculinity” 
through the visual representations of 
what it means to be a man in 2018. The 
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exhibition presented contributors to both 
an amateur and professional competition, 
the latter including entries from high-profile 
photographers including Rankin. As well 
as substantial numbers of attendees 
to the gallery itself, there was also lots 
of associated media interest and other 
communications opportunities for CALM. 
The exhibition was supported by CALM’s 
long-term brand partner Topman, ensuring 
reach among another key audience.  
 
Further details can be found at:
www.calm.photography
www.thephotographymovement.com
www.thecalmzone.net/2017/04/calm- 
photography-movement

Notes
To mark World Suicide Prevention Day on 
10th September 2017, CALM worked with 
award winning creative agency Adam&Eve/
DDB to publish three real suicide notes 
in national newspapers. The notes were 
secured with the full support of the men 
that had written them. Given they had 
not gone on to take their own lives, this 
ultimately provided hope to any man in 
crisis – that any man could get through 
suicidal thoughts and find reasons to live. 
Included in this was a note from mental 
health campaigner and CALM supporter 
Jonny Benjamin. The campaign aimed 
to normalise discussion of suicide. In 
support of the campaign, CALM received 
advertising space in national Sunday 
newspapers as a gift in kind. The exposure 
resulted in CALM traffic to its website in 
one day growing by 3000%. 
  
More information can be found at:
www.thecalmzone.net/2017/09/wspd2017

Change the Picture
To mark International Men’s Day on 
19th November CALM partnered with 
the agency 360i to launch a campaign, 
(entirely funded by Dentsu Aegis Network) 
called #ChangeThePicture. This campaign 
highlighted the fact that on average 12 
men in the UK take their own lives each 

day, and directly addressed the issue of 
the restrictive male stereotypes depicted 
on social media. The campaign used the 
stylised, positive images often posted 
by men; but then went on to reveal the 
truth behind each image to reveal the 
vulnerability, mental health problems and 
suicidal feelings that were really present 
at that time. Contributors included CALM 
ambassadors, Chevy Rough and ex 
professional footballer Leon Mackenzie.

L’eau de Chris 
For 24 hours in the run up to World Mental 
Health Day in October 2017, retailer Top 
Man released a film and accompanying 
outdoor and digital campaign launching 
a fake product of mineral water infused 
with the tears of Chris Hughes, the 
celebrity from ITV2’s hit programme, Love 
Island, who had become reknowned for 
expressing his emotions. There followed 
widespread outrage on social media that 
Topman could be associated with such a 
ridiculous product; only for the campaign to 
be revealed as a partnership between Top 
Man and CALM, designed to show how 
ludicrous it is to bottle up your emotions 
and in so doing highlight that suicide is the 
largest single killer of men under the age of 
45 in the UK. The idea and creative work 
was delivered by advertising agency BMB 
with PR support from W Communications. 
Outdoor media was supplied by Havas.  
All of this work was provided by these 
companies as a gift-in-kind. The production 
costs were met by Top Man. 

Such a major stunt (with humour) achieved 
huge reach – 120 million social media 
impressions in the first 48 hours, 91 
articles of earned media coverage and 
1800% increase in traffic to the CALM 
website from 18 to 24-year olds. L’eau de 
Chris was one of CALM’s most successful 
campaigns - talking directly to young 
people, building brand awareness on a key 
date in the calendar. 

Best Man Project
Born out of media publication The Drum’s 
“Do It Day” competition, this campaign 
asked the question, “Why wait for a 
wedding to be your best mate’s best 
man?”. It served to showcase the warmth 
and bond of male friendships. Using 
the format of a video interview with two 
best friends, the conversations started 
with light-hearted chat and “banter”, but 
quickly turned on the request, “now tell 
him what he means to you as a friend…”. 

The campaign started out with a series 
of interviews with CALM supporters, 
progressed into a pub conversation, and 
ultimately interviews featuring the Duke of 
Cambridge, Rio Ferdinand, Loyle Carner, 
other celebrities and their mates. Men were 
encouraged to sign up to the Best Man 
Project to receive insights and ongoing 
content that aims to help mates help each 
other, in the good times and the bad.

Project 84
This campaign sought to visualise and 
humanise the horrifying statistic that 84 
men die by suicide each week in the UK. 
CALM worked with families bereaved 
by suicide and sculptor Mark Jenkins 
to create 84 statues to represent real 
men that had died. The campaign was in 
partnership with ITV, who placed the 84 
sculptures on their buildings in London 
to coincide with the issue being featured 
on the “This Morning” programme. 

Alongside the media campaign, there 
was also a petition on Change.org 
to lobby government for a minister 
to have dedicated responsibility for 
suicide prevention and bereavement. 
The campaign had seismic impact - TV 
reach of 15 million people, earned media 
coverage globally of 2.1 billion, 170 million 
impressions on social media, 249,074 
signatures on the petition and mentions in 
Prime Minister’s Questions. The campaign 
also won a total of seven prestigious 
Cannes Lions awards, including Gold in the 
Health and Wellness category. 

More details can be found at:  
www.projecteightyfour.com

3.2.5 CALMzine
In 2017/18, CALM published 3 editions 
of the award winning CALMzine, with two 
issues themed around topics relevant 
to CALM’s mission – sport and male 
identity. The CALMzine published in 
April 2017 was a special edition to mark 
CALM’s partnership with the Heads 
Together campaign from Royal Foundation 
and the 2017 London Marathon. This 
edition featured an interview with the 
Duke of Cambridge and Prince Harry. 

The print costs of all CALMzines published 
in the year were again funded by a 
donation from Topman, one of CALM’s 
long-term corporate partners.

In total, over the course of the year, over 
75,000 copies of the CALMzine were print-
ed and distributed to 26 Topman stores, 
barbers, student unions, sports clubs and 
numerous other venues, putting content in 
the hands of men in their own environment. 

Although an important and much-loved part 
of CALM’s campaigning since its inception 
in 2011, after 28 editions, it was decided at 
the end of the year to stop publishing the 
CALMzine. This was part of a wider review 
of CALM’s outreach strategy, in response 
to a need to provide more tailored and 
topical material in a way that engages a 
younger audience – those who primarily 
consume digital media. 

As part of a refreshed content strategy, 
CALM will continue to create and provide 
a platform to publish content and materials 
that cover similar themes, but without doing 
so in the form of a quarterly magazine. 
Specific content will be focused in line with 
overall organisational strategy – to promote 
a more positive message of wellbeing for 
men, on areas where suicide is high-risk, 
aligned to Engagement activity (see 3.2.6) 
and with a preference to using the CALM 
website and other digital channels. 

3.2.6 Engagement and outreach
Reaching out to and engaging with 
a wider base of people is a key part 
of CALM’s strategy - not just for its 
own sake but, critically, because it is 
an integral part of CALM being and 
building a wider grass-roots movement 
to prevent men taking their own lives and 
create a positive change in society. 

CALM’s engagement activity continued 
to be focused on distributing content from 
CALM’s campaigns at events, such as 
music festivals and student Freshers’ Fairs. 
CALM has traditionally generated huge 
appeal due to the youth and musical as-
pect to its messaging and content. In many 
cases, activities have been undertaken 
with the support of CALM’s volunteers. 

As part of CALM’s refreshed strategy and 
a new approach following the appointment 
of a new Engagement and Events 
Executive, CALM put in place a new plan 
for engagement and outreach to work to 
support men before they reach a point of 
crisis (“upstream”); to be more targeted 
in its approach and to work in a scalable 
way by partnering with other organisations 
who are already working in areas that 
CALM wants to address. This involves:

• Using ONS data, other external data and 
CALM’s own experience and understand-
ing to build an evidence base for en-
gagement activity and outreach based on 
areas of society at most risk of suicide:

a.  By issue – isolation, homelessness, 
relationship breakdown, debt, 

b.  By demographic – prisoners, black 
men, GBT+ community, students

c.  By occupation – construction industry 
(also a key target for and therefore 
link with CALM Companies service)

d.  By region – Northern Ireland, 
Scotland, Wales, NE England, 
NW England and SW England

• Approach, work with and form part-
nerships with specialist organisations 
in these areas. Already in 2017/18 

either informal relationships or formal 
partnerships have been formed with: 

a.  Safeground - an organisation 
that addresses issues of mas-
culinity among prisoners

b.  Student Problems – a Facebook page 
with 9 million followers of students 
and young people across the UK

c.  Pride – in order to attend Pride festivals 
in the UK to reach the GBT+ community

d.  Mentality – an organisation that 
puts on events to discuss wellbeing, 
career and life issues principally 
among young black men in London

e.  Money and Mental Health Mat-
ters – financial organisations

• In each case the aim of the partnership is 
for CALM to: 

a.  Provide signposting to its help-
line and webchat services

b.  Create and distribute dedicated 
materials, including campaign resources

c.  Share learning and experience, including 
the provision of reciprocal training

d.  Provide a platform for content from these 
organisations to inspire and reach men 
within the CALM community as a source 
of peer support for men facing similar 
issues 

3.2.7 Volunteering
CALM is proud to run an active 
volunteer programme which this year 
had 265 active volunteers providing 
3,014 hours of support. A further 100 
are on a waiting list for induction. The 
two main areas of activity undertaken 
by volunteers are categorised as:

• Office volunteers – those who come 
to work in CALM’s office to support 
the team with important tasks, such 
as post fulfilment, desk research, 
registering fundraisers and other 
supporters for challenge events and 
supporting engagement activities.

• “Street Team” – an enthusiastic army 
of CALM supporters who represent 
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CALM’s interests at a number of 
engagement events, such as Freshers’ 
Fairs, theatre productions, music and 
other cultural festivals. These volunteers 
help CALM interact with thousands of 
people at events, spreading CALM’s 
distinctive message and approach to 
suicide prevention, as well as helping 
to raise awareness of suicide.

CALM’s volunteers are made up of a 
combination of individual volunteers who 
join CALM in passionate support of the 
cause, as well as volunteers from numer-
ous corporate supporters, for example 
those organisations that have made CALM 
their Charity of the Year. All volunteers 
are provided with an induction by the 
Volunteer Co-ordinator, such that they are 
immersed in the subject matter and able 
to represent CALM at external events.

A sample of representative volunteering 
activities in 2017/18 include:

• In April 2017, as part of the association 
with the Heads Together campaign, 
13 volunteers joined CALM’s “Cheer 
Team” for the London Marathon, with 
these volunteers coming along to spend 
a full day helping set up the cheer 
point and roar on 42 runners giving 
them the lift they needed at mile 17.

• Attending (the final) Secret Garden 
Party in July 2017, providing a fitting 
conclusion to CALM’s long association 
with this music event. In 2017, the CALM 
team consisted of 16 volunteers (contrib-
uting a total of 224 hours) who staged 
a special Torch Songs helping to entice 
more people into the tent to hear CALM’s 
message and take part in activities to 
discuss their own wellbeing. 
 

• A repeat of the successful “Mind the 
Chap” event where 66 volunteers repre-
sented CALM at 13 main London rail and 
underground stations, distributing 20,000 
Oyster card holders which contain infor-
mation about CALM and the Helpline ser-
vice, as well as raising awareness of the 

issue of male suicide with commuters.

3.2.8 Fundraising
The nature of CALM, as a grass-roots 
campaign, means the role of fundraising 
in the organisation is not purely a financial 
one. Supporters of CALM are often also 
beneficiaries, using their involvement in 
CALM’s work to improve their own mental 
health or as part of the grieving process. 
They support CALM in a myriad of ways: 
as writers and volunteers, by staging 
events or contributing to campaigns 
and by fundraising. In turn we provide 
the support needed to empower them 
through their supporter journey.

Led by the Fundraising Director, the team 
collaborates closely with the Communica-
tions and Engagement departments, with 
the aim of moving to a more commercial 
and customer service focused approach 
to support and retention, with the goal 
of securing more income and more 
engaged supporters for the cause. 

Following major strides in the previous 
year to install the infrastructure required to 
fulfil the requirements of CALM’s growing 
income, CALM again increased capacity 
in the fundraising team to ensure that 
income is processed effectively and that 
all donors are provided with excellent 
support as part of their journey with CALM.
CALM is overwhelmed by the incredible 
feedback from donors about the support 
they receive from the team while under-
taking their fundraising activities. Even as 
income has increased to over £2 million, 
the dedicated and committed staff in the of-
fice have not only put processes in place to 
ensure income is processed efficiently but 
also continue to provide supporters with 
extra levels of personal and empathetic 
communication, which makes a huge pos-
itive difference to supporters’ experience.

Income from the public, particularly 
individual donors and those who are being 
sponsored for a huge variety of incredible 
events, continues to be the majority of 

CALM’s income. The increase in income 
from corporate sources is encouraging 
and a successful result of the additional 
investment in resource in this area.

3.2.9 HR and support for staff
As part of its commitment to be a leader in 
all areas of its activities, in line with ground 
breaking campaigns and excellence in 
service provision, CALM aspires to be a 
leading employer in the not-for-profit sector. 

Recruitment
In the year to 31 March 2018, six new 
roles were recruited and inducted into 
the organisation. This has enabled 
CALM to further develop its services 
and expand its campaign message.

Development
With the organisation continuing to grow 
across all areas, there remains a need 
to ensure the appropriate infrastructure 
is in place to support existing and new 
staff; and allow them to be able to fulfil 
their roles effectively and productively. 
To this end, the following HR activities 
were undertaken through the year:

• The induction programme for new staff 
was improved and rolled out (based 
on feedback from recent recruits, 
including the new Chief Executive).

• Project Management training for all staff 
(provided as a gift in kind by Octopus 
Investments) to allow more efficient 
work flow, delivery and output across 
the organisation, principally using the 
RACI approach to project management.

• “SDI” training for all staff (also provided 
as a gift in kind by Octopus Invest-
ments) to help leaders understand 
their strengths and motivations, and 
therefore better manage their teams.

• Performance Management Training 
– formalising, standardising and 
improving CALM’s objective setting and 
performance review process for all line 
managers to improve output, accountabil-
ity and transparency. 

Support
Recognising the potential for secondary 
trauma that exists from working in a suicide 
prevention organisation, CALM has for 
a long time provided supervision to all 
staff as one of its key planks of support. 
Additionally, and in order to “practice what 
we preach”, CALM itself also became a 
CALM Company (see Service provision 
3.2.1) to improve wellbeing among the 
office team, with some adjustments and 
amendments from the regular service, to 
take into account the fact that CALM staff 
are embedded in this field. This included:

• Three staff in Head Office receiving 
Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) training

• A wellbeing survey in order to 
gauge the happiness of all staff

• Provision of a series of progres-
sive employee benefits, 

• A series of ad hoc sessions for staff 
to improve wellbeing, including 
for example talks from CALM 
ambassadors on Mindfulness

3.3 Future aims and objectives
Following the appointment of Simon 
Gunning as Chief Executive, a new vision 
and strategy was put in place in July 2017:
 
 
Strategic objectives:
1. Build the CALM brand through increased 

and more regular campaign presence
2. Increase service provision and support 

for men through the extension of the 
Helpline and Webchat Service; as well 
as new digital support services that 
will allow 24-hour support for men

3. Increase income and diversify 
revenue generation (with a focus on 
Corporates and Trust & Foundations)

4. Enhance Customer Relationship Man-
agement to grow the grass-roots nature 
of the campaign by providing compelling 
reasons for supporters to “Join CALM” 
and continue to support the organisation

5. Operate an efficient, productive 
and well governed organisation

In practice, these objectives will be 
realised through the following activities:

• Continuing to partner with relevant 
agencies, brands and media organisa-
tions to devise and deliver innovative and 
ground-breaking campaigns that have 
significant reach; to raise awareness of 
the issue of male suicide, change the 
culture in UK society so that men feel 
more able to discuss any issues and 
society is better able to support men

• Continuing to increase the proportion 
of income CALM generates from 
Corporates, through both service 
provision and campaigns; and increase 
income received in the form of multi-year 
grants from Trusts and Foundations

• Developing new digital services to 
complement the existing Helpline 
and Webchat services, such as 
“Intelligent Hold” to provide a form 
of triage so that men in crisis are 
more likely to receive urgent support 
and that those men not in crisis are 
able to access the information and 
signposting they need 24 hours a day

• Recruiting and retaining exceptional staff
• Increasing the use and understanding of 

supporter and service data to measure, 
report on and improve CALM’s impact

3.4. FINANCIAL REVIEW
3.4.1 Income 
Income for the year was £2,152,000 (2017: 
£1,565,000), an increase of £587,000 
(38%) on prior year. This was achieved 
due to an increase of £499,000 in public 
fundraising, gifts in kind of £85,000 and 
an overall net increase of £3,000 in the 
remaining areas of income. Income is 
categorised in the following chart:
 

INCOME BY CATERGORY
 

Public fundraising
(£1,400,000)

Donations
(£626,000)

Gifts in kind
(£85,000)

Other (£1,000)
Charitable activities

(£40,000)

Income from public fundraising, sponsor-
ship events and donations is obtained from 
a large number of sources/donors across 
a range of events throughout the year.

Income from charitable activities includes 
commissioning income of £35,000 and 
event registration fees of £5,000.
The trustees have deferred income from 
grant funding of £44,000 until 2018/19 as 
the expenditure to which the grants relate 
will not be committed and incurred until the 
following year. 

3.4.2 Expenditure
Expenditure for the year was £1,868,000 
(2017: £1,434,000), an increase of 
£434,000 (30%) on prior year. This 
increase, supported by the corresponding 
increase in income, arose across the 
following areas of CALM’s activities:
 
Direct fundraising 
Direct fundraising costs were £238,000, 
an increase of £142,000 (146%) on the 
previous year. This includes the costs of 
supporting and organising participants in 
fundraising events on behalf of CALM and 
also work on developing the supporter 
database. The salary costs of 4 full time 
equivalent members of staff are allocated 
directly to this category (2017: 1.5). Direct 
fundraising costs represent 11% (2017: 
6%) of income. 

CA
LM

 A
CC

OU
NT

S 
20

17
-18

1110



Direct service provision
Direct service provision costs were 
£682,000, an increase of £97,000 
(17%) on the previous year. They 
can be analysed as follows:

DIRECT SERVICE PROVISION EXPENDITURE BY CATEGORY

Helpline provision and 
webchat (£594,000)

Website
(£25,000)

Support after
Suicide 
Partnership
(£41,000)

CALM Companies 
(£22,000)

 
The direct helpline/webchat service pro-
vision costs increased by £73,000 (13%) 
as service provision levels were expanded 
with increased numbers of Helpline and 
Webchat staff available to meet increased 
demand. The Helpline is manned by staff 
from an external service provider. The 
costs of developing CALM Companies 
(£22,000) is also included for the first time 
this year. The salary costs of 1.5 full time 
equivalent staff members are allocated to 
the direct service provision cost category 
(2017: 1). 

Direct promotion and outreach 
Direct promotion and outreach costs 
were £496,000, an increase of £215,000 
(76%) on the previous year. 
The costs in this category involve the direct 
provision of support to promote awareness 
of male suicide through campaigns and 
specific public events. The increase in cost 
compared to the previous year reflects the 
increase in the number and range of such 
events that took place during 2017/18. 
In addition, the salary costs of seven full 
time equivalent staff are now allocated 
directly to this cost category (2017: 3).

Support costs
Support costs are the office, administration, 
management and governance costs 
incurred by CALM. In 2017/18 they were 
£446,000, a decrease of £26,000 (6%) on 
the previous year. This decrease was due 
to lower management costs as 2016/17 
included two staff who were deemed to 
work across the business but have been 
allocated directly to fundraising in 2017/18. 
There has been a 26% increase in office 
costs, due to the move to a larger office 
and the increase in staff numbers. 
 
Expenditure is categorised as follows: 

SUPPORT COSTS BY CATEGORY
 
 

Staff
(£241,000)

Office
(£136,000)

HMRC National
Insurance (£24,000)

Governance
(£5,000)

Consultancy,
training and
other
overheads
(£40,000)

 
Staff costs represent the salary costs 
of CALM’s 4.5 full time equivalent staff, 
including the Chief Executive, who were 
employed during 2017/18 and are not 
charged directly to one of the areas 
of CALM’s activities (2017: 6.5). 
Office costs, which are the general 
overheads of the charity, make up 7% 
(2017: 8%) of CALM’s total expenditure. 
The principal elements are office rent 
(£73,000) and utility/communications/
IT/insurance costs (£43,000).

3.4.3 Surplus and reserves 
There was a fund surplus for the year 
of £284,000 (2017: £131,000), of which 
£284,000 (2017: £131,000) was unrestrict-
ed and £Nil (2017: £Nil) was restricted.

Total funds available as at 31 March 
2018 were £773,000 (2017: £489,000), 
made up entirely of an unrestricted 
reserves balance. There was no 
restricted funds balance to carry forward 
as at 31 March 2018 (2017: £Nil). 

The funds available balance is consistent 
with CALM’s reserves policy outlined in 
section 1.3, in particular it is sufficient to 
meet the charity’s short term working capi-
tal requirements. The unrestricted reserves 
balance as at 31 March 2018 represents 
3.9 months of budgeted expenditure for 
2018/19. 

SECTION 4 - AUDITORS
The Auditors, Royce Peeling Green 
Limited, Chartered Accountants, have 
expressed their willingness to continue 
in office and a resolution regarding their 
appointment and remuneration will be 
submitted to the Annual General Meeting.

SECTION 5 - STATEMENT 
OF TRUSTEES’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES 
Law applicable to charities in England 
and Wales requires trustees to prepare 
financial statements for each financial 
year, which give a true and fair view of 
the financial activities of the charity during 
the year and state of affairs at the end 
of the year. In preparing those financial 
statements, the trustees are required to: 

• Select suitable accounting policies 
and then apply them consistently; 

• Observe the methods and princi-
ples in the Charities SORP;

• Make judgements and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent; 

• State whether applicable account-
ing standards and statements of 
recommended practice have been 
followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements; and

• Prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis unless it is inappro-
priate to assume that the company will 
continue in business. 

The trustees are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the charity and which 
enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies 
Act 2006, applicable Accounting Standards 
and Statements of Recommended Practice 
(FRS 102), and the Accounting regulations 
set out under the Charities Act 2011. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the charity and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

SECTION 6 - STATEMENT OF 
DISCLOSURE TO AUDITORS
So far as the trustees are aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of which 
CALM’s auditors are unaware. Additionally, 
the trustees have taken all the necessary 
steps that they ought to have taken as 
trustees in order to make themselves 
aware of all relevant audit information 
and to establish that the charity’s 
auditors are aware of that information.

SECTION 7 - COMPANIES 
ACT 2006
This report has been prepared in 
accordance with the special provisions 
relating to small companies within 
Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006.

This report was approved by the board on 
2nd October 2018 
 

 

 
J Scroggs, Chair of Trustees  
2nd October 2018 
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements 
of Campaign Against Living Miserably 
(the ‘charity’) for the year ended 31 March 
2018 which comprise the statement of 
financial activities, the balance sheet, the 
statement of cash flows and the notes 
to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion, the financial statements:
give a true and fair view of the state of 
the charitable company’s affairs as at 31 
March 2018 and of its incoming resources 
and application of resources, for the year 
then ended;  
have been properly prepared in accord-
ance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice; and
have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006, the Charities Act 2011, the Charities 
and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 
2005 and regulation 8 of the Charities 
Accounts (Scotland) 2006 (as amended)

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the accounts 
section of our report. We are independent 
of the charity in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit 

of the accounts in the UK, including the 
FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating 
to going concern
We have nothing to report in 
respect of the following matters 
in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where:
the trustees use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is not appropriate; or
the trustees have not disclosed in the 
financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about the charity’s ability to con-
tinue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The trustees are responsible for the 
other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the 
annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required 
to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other informa-
tion, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are re-
quired to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and 
understanding of the company and its 
environment obtained in the course of 
the audit we have not identified material 
misstatements in the Trustees’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of 
the following matters where the Com-
panies Act 2006, the Charities Act 2011 
and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) requires 
us to report to you if, in our opinion:
Adequate accounting records have 
not been kept, or returns adequate 
for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or
The financial statements are not 
in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or
Certain disclosures of trustees’ remuner-
ation specified by law are not made; or
We have not received all the 
information and explanations 
we require for our audit; or
The trustees were not entitled to prepare 
the financial statements in accordance 
with the small companies regime and 
take advantage of the small companies 
exemption in preparing the directors report.

Responsibilities of trustees
As explained more fully in the statement of 
trustees responsibilities, the trustees, who 
are also the directors of the charity for the 
purpose of company law, are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial state-
ments and for being satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the trustees determine is neces-
sary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the 

trustees are responsible for assessing 
the charity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless 
the trustees either intend to liquidate the 
charitable company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements 
We have been appointed as auditors under 
the Companies Act 2006, the Charities 
Act 2011, and section 44 (1) ( c ) of the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scot-
land) Act 2005 and report in accordance 
with those Acts and relevant regulations 
made or having effect thereunder.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from ma-
terial misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements 
is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report.

This report is made solely to the charity’s 
trustees, as a body, in accordance with part 
4 of the Charities (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state 
to the charity’s trustees those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditors’ 
report and for no other purpose. To the 

fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the charity and the charity’s trus-
tees as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Carolyn Dutton (Senior Statutory Auditor)        
Royce Peeling Green Limited  
on 15th October 2018

Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditor                               
The Copper Room 
Deva Centre 
Trinity Way                      
Manchester 
M3 7BG     
    
   
Royce Peeling Green Limited is eligible 
for appointment as auditor of the charity 
by virtue of its eligibility for appointment 
as auditor of a company under section 
1212 of the Companies Act 2006
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Unrestricted 
funds

Restricted 
funds

Total 
funds

Prior year funds
(Note 14)

Further details 
(Note)

Income from: £ £ £ £

Donations and legacies 1,763,044 347,683 2,110,727 1,515,604 3

Charitable activities 4,835 34,920 39,755 47,274

Investments 1,321 - 1,321 1,353

Other income - - - 528

Total 1,769,200 382,603 2,151,803 1,564,759

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 330,766 - 330,766 178,905 4

Charitable activities 1,154,154 382,603 1,536,757 1,254,978 5

Total                 1,484,920 382,603 1,867,523 1,433,883

Net income/(expenditure) 284,280 - 284,280 130,876

Transfer between funds - - - -

Net movements in funds 284,280 - 284,280 130,876

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 488,790 - 488,790 357,914

Total funds carried forward 773,070 - 773,070 488,790

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Unrestricted 
funds

Restricted 
funds

Total 
funds

Prior year  
funds

Further details 
(Note)

Current assets: £ £ £ £

Debtors 68,795 25,000 93,795 38,555 8

Cash at bank and in hand 819,460 18,586 838,046 659,047

Total current assets 888,255 43,586 931,841 697,602

Liabilities: - - - 528
Creditors: amounts falling due 
within one year              (115,185) (43,586) (158,771) (208,812) 9

Net current assets 773,070 - 773,070 488,790

Total net assets or liabilities 773,070 - 773,070 488,790

The funds of the charity:

Restricted income funds - - - - 11

Unrestricted funds 773,070 - 773,070 488,790 10

Total charity funds                 773,070 - 773,070 488,790

BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to 
companies subject to the small companies regime within Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the trustees on 2nd October 2018 and signed on their behalf by:
 

R Kingdom
Director, Treasurer

Company Reg. Number: 05378928 (England and Wales)
Charity Number: 1110621 (England and Wales)
Charity Number: SC044347 (Scotland) 

The statement of financial activities has been prepared on the basis that all operations are 
continuing operations.

There are no recognised gains and losses other than those passing through the statement 
of financial activities.

The notes on pages 19 to 27 form part of these accounts.
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Current year Prior year

£ £

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net cash provided by (used) in operating activities 177,678 218,320

Cash flows from investing activities:

Interest received 1,321  1,353

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,321  1,353

Changes in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period 178,999 219,673

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 659,047 439,374

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 838,046 659,047

Current year Prior year

£ £
Net income/(expenditure) for the reporting period 
(as per the statement of financial activities) 284,280 130,876

Adjustments for:

Interest received (1,321) (1,353)

(Increase)/decrease in debtors (55,240) 64,661

Increase/(decrease) in creditors (50,041) 24,136

Net cash provided by /(used in) operating activities 177,678 218,320

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Current year Prior year

£ £

Cash in hand 838,046) 659,047)

Total cash and cash equivalents 838,046) 659,047

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
 

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been 
prepared under the historic cost convention 
with items recognised at cost or transaction 
value unless stated in the relevant notes 
to the accounts. The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with 
the Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities 
preparing their accounts in accordance 
with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland (FRS 102) and the Financial Re-
porting Standard applicable in the United 
Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 
102), the Charities Act 2011, the Charities 
and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 
2005, the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) and in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 
Campaign Against Living Miserably is a 
registered charity, no 1110621, and meets 
the definition of a public benefit entity 
under FRS 102.

The financial statements are prepared on a 
going concern basis. There are no material 
uncertainties in respect of the charity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

The financial statements are prepared in 
sterling, which is the functional currency of 
the company. Monetary amounts in these 
financial statements are rounded to the 
nearest £.

Company status
The charity is a company limited by 
guarantee. The members of the company 
are the trustees named on page 28. In 
the event of the charity being wound up 
the liability in respect of the guarantee is 
limited to £1 per member of the charity. 
 
Fund accounting
General funds are unrestricted funds which 
are available for use at the discretion of 
the trustees in furtherance of the general 
objectives of the charity and which have 
not been designated for other purposes.

Restricted funds are funds which are 
to be used in accordance with specific 
restrictions imposed by donors or which 
have been raised by the charity for 
particular purposes. The costs of raising 
and administering such funds are charged 
against the specific fund. The aim and use 
of each restricted fund is set out in the 
notes to the financial statements.

Incoming resources
All incoming resources are included in the 
Statement of Financial Activities (SoFA) 
when the charity becomes entitled to the 
resources, the trustees know it is probable 
that they will receive the resources and 
the monetary value can be measured 
reliably. Where incoming resources have 
related expenditure (as with fundraising or 
contract income) the incoming resources 
and related expenditure are reported gross 
in the SoFA.

Grants, commissioning and corporate 
fundraising are included in the period to 
which the SoFA relates when: 

(1) the charity has unconditional entitle-
ment to the resources; and 

(2) to the extent that the resources are pro-
vided to fund specific activities over defined 
periods of time, the charity is entitled to 
spend the resources and the correspond-
ing liability has been recognised. 

Grants, commissioning and corporate 
fundraising income that covers subsequent 
accounting periods is shown as deferred 
income on the balance sheet. 

Gifts in kind are accounted for at a 
reasonable estimate of their value to the 
charity or the amount actually realised; 
those for sale or distribution are included 
in the accounts as gifts only when sold or 
distributed by the charity; those for use 
by the charity are included in the SoFA as 
incoming resources when receivable.

Donated facilities are only included in 
incoming resources (with an equivalent 
amount in resources expended) where the 
benefit to the charity is reasonably quanti-
fiable, measurable and material. The value 
placed on these resources is the estimated 
value to the charity of the service or facility 
received. No amounts are included in the 
financial statements for services donated 
by volunteers.

Investment income is included in the 
accounts when receivable.

Expenditure and liabilities
Liabilities are recognised as soon as there 
is a legal or constructive obligation com-
mitting the charity to pay out resources, it 
is probable that settlement will be required 
and the amount of the obligation can be 
measured or estimated reliably.

Fundraising costs are those incurred 
raising income for the charity through 
events and promotions, and seeking grant 
funding.

Support costs are allocated to activity cost 
categories on a basis consistent with the 
use of resources and include:

(1) Office and administration costs incurred 
in connection with general management of 
the charity and compliance with constitu-
tional and statutory requirements; and 
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(2) Governance costs incurred in relation 
to the preparation and audit of statutory 
accounts, the costs of trustee meetings 
and the cost of legal advice to trustees on 
governance or constitutional matters.

Irrecoverable VAT is charged against 
the expenditure heading for which it was 
incurred.

Fixed assets 

Fixed assets are for the use of the Charity  
in fulfilling its objects and are capitalised 
and depreciated. 

Depreciation on fixed assets is provided 
at rates considered appropriate to 
reduce book values to estimated residual 
values over the useful lives of the assets 
concerned: 

Assets in the course of construction are not 
depreciated until they are completed.

Items of equipment with low initial cost 
(under £2,000) are written off on purchase.

Pension Scheme
The charity contributes to a defined 
contribution pension scheme. The assets 
of the scheme are held separately from 
those of the charity and contributions are 
accounted for when due. 

Recognition of liabilities
Liabilities are recognised where it is more 
likely than not there is a legal or con-
structive obligation committing the charity 
to pay out resources and the amount 
of the obligation can be measured with 
reasonable certainty. 

Recognition of Basic Financial Assets
Debtors are measured on initial recognition at settlement amount after any discounts 
or amount advanced by the charity. Subsequently, they are measured at cash or other 
consideration expected to be received. 

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, where 
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods 
where the revision affects both current and future periods.

Unrestricted Restricted Total 2018 Total 2017

£ £ £ £

Donations 363,495 262,383 625,878 607,203

Legacies - - - 7,500

Public fundraising 1,399,549 - 1,399,549 900,901

Gifts in kind - 85,300 85,300 -

Total 1,763,044 347,683 2,110,727 1,515,604

Activity or programme
Activities 

undertaken 
directly

Support 
costs

(Note 6) 2018 2017

£ £ £ £

Fundraising activities 237,663 93,103 330,766 178,905

Furniture and fittings

Straight line over 4 years

Computers and equipment

Straight line over 4 years

3. DONATIONS AND LEGACIES

4. RAISING FUNDS

Restricted donations consists of grant income of £193,495, corporate income of £63,888 
and donations of £5,000.

CALM does not engage in political campaigning.

Although required to disclose the aggregate donated by trustees the charity recognises 
that all of our trustees give their time on a voluntary basis and make valuable non-financial 
contributions. Total trustee donations of £103 (2017: £60) have been received in the year.

Activity or programme
Activities 

undertaken 
directly

Support 
costs

(Note 6)
2018 2017

£ £ £ £

Helpline provision and webchat service 593,986 150,841 744,827 718,202

Website 24,834 58,617 83,451 82,439

CALM Companies 22,467 3,640 26,107 -

Promotion/outreach costs 496,212 134,998 631,210 410,243

Grants/donations paid 5,500 - 5,500 -

Support After Suicide Partnership 41,205 4,457 45,662 44,094

Total 1,184,204 352,553 1,536,757 1,254,978

5. EXPENDITURE ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

Donations were made to: Soup Kitchen at the American International Church £5,000  
(2017: £0) for funding a counsellor at a drop-in centre, and Time to Talk £500 (2017: £500) 
to support a memorial service at St Martin’s, London.

Office Administration 
and management Governance 2018 2017

£ £ £ £ £

Raising funds 28,363 63,613 1,127 93,103 82,486

Helpline provision and webchat service 45,952 103,062 1,827 150,841 192,519

Website 17,857 40,050 710 58,617 62,804

CALM Companies 1,109 2,487 44 3,640 -

Promotion/outreach 41,125 92,238 1,635 134,998 129,073

Support After Suicide Partnership 1,358 3,045 54 4,457 4,716

Total 135,764 304,495 5,397 445,656 471,598

6. SUPPORT COSTS
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2018 2017

Staff costs during the year were: £ £

Staff salaries 662,809 459,687

HMRC National insurance costs 64,691 44,894

Employer contributions to defined contribution pension scheme 23,711 6,950

Operating costs of defined contribution pension scheme 3,276 2,913

Total 754,487 514,444

Number Number
The average monthly number of employees  
(full time equivalent) employed by the charity during the year: 17 12

The number of volunteers 265 300

Total volunteer hours provided 3,014 2,807

7. STAFF COSTS

Support costs are allocated to activity areas on a fixed and variable basis. 

The fixed cost element, estimated at fifty percent of total support costs, is allocated equally 
across the four principal activities: Raising funds, Helpline provision and webchat service, 
Website and Promotion/outreach. A nominal amount is allocated to the Support After 
Suicide Partnership as this activity is considered to use only limited fixed resource at this 
time. No fixed cost element has been allocated to CALM Companies as activity did not 
commence until close to the end of the year.

The variable cost element, also estimated at fifty percent of support costs, is allocated 
across all four principal activities, and CALM Companies, in proportion to the level of direct 
costs incurred in undertaking those activities. Given the nature of CALM’s activities this is 
considered to be the most appropriate way in which to allocate variable costs.
 
Governance costs relate to the annual audit fee and reimbursed trustee travel expenses.
£4,500 was paid in the year to the auditors in respect of audit services (2017- £4,920).

In addition, CALM receives a great deal of support from volunteers which is not financially 
accounted for in the figures above. Volunteers play a key role in the functions of CALM; 
further details of their contribution can be found in the trustees’ report on page 9 section 
3.2.7.

The key management personnel of the charity comprise, the Trustees, the Chief Executive 
and the Operations Director whose total employee benefits (including employer pension 
contributions) amount to £169,030 (2017: £134,164).

Pension costs are allocated to activities in proportion to the related staffing costs incurred 
and are wholly charged to unrestricted funds.

There were no ex-gratia payments during the year (2017: £10,500).

Employee remuneration bands: Number

£60,000 - £70,000 1

£90,000 - £100,000 1

2018 2017

£ £

Grant debtors - 8,000

Accrued income 50,000 13,460

Other debtors and prepayments 43,795 17,095

Total 93,795 38,555

8. DEBTORS
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Deferred income, which is restricted, consists of income deferred to the following year, 
when the expenditure to which the income relates will be incurred. The deferred income 
above is for website development, SASP Project Manager and the SASP survey. 

Unrestricted funds are a general reserve which are free funds of the charity and are not 
designated for particular purposes.

2018 2017

£ £

Trade Creditors 66,260 64,908

Deferred income 43,586 98,331

Other taxes and social security costs 23,088 17,184

Accruals 25,837 28,389

Total 158,771 208,812

10. UNRESTRICTED FUNDS

9. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Fund name Fund balances
brought forward Income Expenditure Net movement 

in funds
Fund balances 

carried forward
£ £ £ £ £

General Fund 488,790 1,769,200 1,484,920 284,280 773,070

Fund name
Fund balances

brought forward Income Expenditure
Net 

movement 
in funds

Fund 
balances 

carried 
forward

£ £ £ £ £

Donations

Helpline and webchat service provision - 154,144 154,144 - -
Volunteer & Supporter Engagement Officer and 
Editor - 9,403 9,403 - -

Heads Together Campaign - 33,538 33,538 - -

Engagement - 9,000 9,000 - -

CALMzine - 13,888 13,888 - -

Project 84 - 25,000 25,000 - -

Support After Suicide Partnership Project Manager - 15,000 15,000 - -

Support After Suicide Partnership survey - 2,410 2,410 - -

- 262,383 262,383 - -

Gifts in kind

Project 84 - 75,000 75,000 - -

Annual report - 10,000 10,000 - -

VAT consultancy - 300 300 - -

- 85,300 85,300 - -

Charitable activities

London helpline service provision and promotion - 30,450 30,450 - -

Thames Valley CALMzone - 4,470 4,470 - -

- 34,920 34,920 - -

- 382,603 382,603 - -

11. RESTRICTED FUNDS
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12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

13. PROVISIONS AND COMMITMENTS

In the year, advertising, fundraising and promotion costs of £34,618 (2017: £54,403) were 
charged by Theobald Fox Limited, of which, George Smart (Trustee) is a director. 

In the previous year CALM recognised income of £15,087 from the Clothworkers’ Founda-
tion, of whom Philip Portal (Trustee) is a Court Member.

CALM is a member of the National Suicide Prevention Alliance (“NSPA”). Grants were 
received from the James Wentworth Stanley Memorial Fund and The Matthew Elvidge 
Trust, who are also members of the NSPA. The Support After Suicide Project Manager is 
based in the CALM office and CALM employs and covers the costs of the post that are not 
covered by grants.

One year 2 – 5 years

Operating leases which expire:

In less than one year 7,500 - -

Between two to five years - - -

7,500 - -

2018 2017

Income from: Unrestricted funds Restricted funds Total funds

£ £ £

Donations and legacies 1,199,404 316,200 1,515,604

Charitable activities - 47,274 47,274

Investments 1,353 - 1,353

Other income 528 - 528

Total 1,201,285 363,474 1,564,759

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 178,905 - 178,905

Charitable activities 891,504 363,474 1,254,978

Total 1,070,409 363,474 1,433,883

Net income/(expenditure) 130,876 - 130,876

Transfer between funds - - -

Net movements in funds 130,876 - 130,876

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 357,914 - 357,914

Total funds carried forward 488,790 - 488,790

14. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES INCOME AND 
EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT YEAR ENDING 31 MARCH 2017
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